

**Supporting Educational Environments Free from Discrimination** 

A Resource Collection for Elementary and Secondary Schools

**July 2023** 



**U.S. Department of Education**Office for Civil Rights

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

	GUIDE TO THIS RESOURCE COLLECTION	. 1
GUIDAN	NCE ON TITLE VI	. 2
	General Overview of Title VI	. 2
	Bullying and Harassment	. 2
	COVID-19	. 2
	Discipline	. 3
	Diversity & Inclusion Activities	3
	English Learners	. 3
	Equal Access to Schools, Facilities, and Resources	. 4
	Race Discrimination in Special Education	. 5
	Religious and Shared Ancestry Discrimination	. 5
	Retaliation	. 6
GUIDANCE ON SECTION 504 OF THE REHABILITATION ACT AND TITLE II OF THE ADA		. 7
	General Overview of Section 504 and Title II	. 7
	Accessibility of Programs and Facilities	Q
	, 3	. 0
	Bullying and Harassment	
		. 8
	Bullying and Harassment	. 8 . 9
	Bullying and Harassment	. 8 . 9 . 9
	Bullying and Harassment  Charter Schools  COVID-19	. 8 . 9 . 9
	Bullying and Harassment  Charter Schools  COVID-19  Effective Communication	. 8 . 9 . 9 . 9
	Bullying and Harassment  Charter Schools  COVID-19  Effective Communication  Equal Access	. 8 . 9 . 9 . 9
	Bullying and Harassment  Charter Schools  COVID-19  Effective Communication  Equal Access  Free Appropriate Public Education (FAPE)	. 8 . 9 . 9 . 9 10
	Bullying and Harassment  Charter Schools  COVID-19  Effective Communication  Equal Access  Free Appropriate Public Education (FAPE)  Race Discrimination in Special Education	. 8 . 9 . 9 10 10
	Bullying and Harassment  Charter Schools  COVID-19  Effective Communication  Equal Access  Free Appropriate Public Education (FAPE)  Race Discrimination in Special Education  Restraint and Seclusion	. 8 . 9 . 9 10 11 11

GUIDANCE ON TITLE IX	13
General Overview of Title IX	13
Athletics	13
COVID-19	14
Pregnant or Parenting Students	14
Retaliation	14
Sexual Harassment, including Sexual Violence	15
Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity	15
Single-Sex Education Services, Programs, and Activities	16
GUIDANCE ON CRDC DATA	17
General Overview of the CRDC	17
How to Access and Navigate the Database	17
Prior CRDC Reports	17

#### YOUR GUIDE TO THIS RESOURCE COLLECTION

This resource collection features a selection of OCR guidance and resources that may be useful to elementary and secondary schools throughout the school year. For each resource, you will find a brief description and a link to full information online.

Here is some additional information about this collection:

- Each topic area includes a combination of specific and general resources. For your convenience, general resources are included in each area where they are relevant. As a result, you will find some resources listed in multiple locations.
- This resource collection is also available on OCR's website. We will update the online version of this document periodically as OCR issues additional resources and guidance.
- > Some of the resources in the collection are issued jointly by OCR and other Federal offices and agencies.
- Additional questions? Please note that this collection includes many OCR resources but is not comprehensive. You can find all OCR guidance resources on OCR's <u>website</u>. We also recognize that you might have additional questions and invite you to send them to us at ocr@ed.gov.
- ➢ Please note that OCR guidance and other resources, including the materials in this collection, are designed to provide clarity on existing requirements under the law. These OCR resources do not have the force or effect of law and do not bind schools or others. However, the statutes and regulatory requirements described in the guidance are legally binding.
- On request, this publication and other publicly available Department of Education resources are available in alternate formats, such as Braille or large print. For more information, please contact the Department of Education's Alternate Format Center at 202-260-0818 or e-mail <u>alternateformatcenter@ed.gov</u>. The Department of Education also offers language assistance services for all publicly available Department of Education information free of charge. For more information about interpretation or translation services, please see this <u>Notice to Persons with Limited English Proficiency</u>

#### **GUIDANCE ON TITLE VI:**

### Key Guidance on Discrimination Based on Race, Color, or National Origin

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, or national origin in programs and activities operated by recipients of Federal funds, including allpublic elementary and secondary schools. It says:

No person in the United States shall, on the ground of race, color, or national origin, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance.

You can find the full text of Title VI at 42 U.S.C. § 2000d.

The materials below provide a general overview of Title VI and address schools' obligations under Title VI on the following topics: Bullying and Harassment; COVID-19 response; Discipline; English Learners; Equal Access to Schools, Facilities, and Resources; Race Discrimination in Special Education; Religion and Shared Ancestry; and Retaliation.

### General Overview of Title VI Starting points for learning about Title VI include:

- OCR's overview, including the <u>Title VI statute</u> and its <u>implementing regulations</u>
- Frequently Asked Questions on Race and National Origin Discrimination

#### **Bullying and Harassment**

- <u>Fact Sheet on Harassment and Bullying</u>: This fact sheet explains schools' responsibilities under Title VI to respond to student-on-student harassment and bullying. For more detail, see OCR's <u>Dear Colleague Letter on Bullying and Discriminatory Harassment</u>.
- Confronting COVID-19-Related Harassment in Schools: This resource from OCR and the Department of Justice's Civil Rights Division (DOJ) includes examples of harassment and other discrimination against students during the COVID-19 pandemic, particularly Asian American and Pacific Islander students, and outlines the responsibilities of schools to investigate and address discrimination based on race or national origin. For additional information, see OCR's <u>Dear Educator Letter on Discrimination Against Asian American and Pacific Islander Students</u>, which explains the responsibilities of schools to address bullying and harassment of students based on actual or perceived race, color, or national origin and provides links to additional resources.

#### COVID-19

Questions and Answers on Civil Rights and School Reopening in the COVID-19
 Environment: Section 2 of this resource answers key questions about discrimination based on race, color, or national origin in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, including: harassment; discipline; resource equity; students who have moved, are

- experiencing homelessness, or are undocumented; and English learners. This Q&A also includes links to other resources regarding COVID-19 and school reopening.
- Confronting COVID-19-Related Harassment in Schools: This resource from OCR and DOJ includes examples of harassment and other discrimination against students during the COVID-19 pandemic, particularly Asian American and Pacific Islander students, and outlines the responsibilities of schools to investigate and address discrimination based on race, color, or national origin.

### Discipline

- <u>U.S. Department of Education and U.S. Department of Justice Resource on Confronting Racial Discrimination in Student Discipline</u>: The Resource highlights ways the Departments have applied Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and its regulations, and Title IV of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, to facts and illustrate the types of remedies the Departments have obtained. This resource is available in Spanish.
- <u>CRDC Data Summary: School Discipline</u>: This data summary provides a national
  perspective on racial and other disparities in the use of discipline by pre-K, elementary,
  and secondary public schools.

### **Diversity and Inclusion Activities**

<u>Fact Sheet on Diversity & Inclusion Activities under Title VI:</u> This fact sheet assists school communities, including students, parents, families, educators, and elementary, secondary, and postsecondary educational institutions, in understanding that diversity, equity, and inclusion training and similar activities in most factual circumstances are consistent with Title VI. This resource is available in available in Spanish.

#### **English Learners**

- Confronting Discrimination Based on National Origin and Immigration Status: This
  resource from OCR and DOJ provides examples and addresses students' rights to be
  free from discrimination in school enrollment because of their immigration status or
  the immigration status of their parents or guardians. It also addresses the rights of
  students who are learning English, including the right to language assistance services.
  The resource is available in multiple languages: <a href="Spanish">Spanish</a>, <a href="Chinese">Chinese</a> (Simplified)</a>, <a href="Chinese">Chinese</a>
  (Traditional)</a>, <a href="Arabic">Arabic</a>, <a href="Vietnamese">Vietnamese</a>, <a href="Somali">Somali</a>, <a href="Haitian Creole">Haitian Creole</a>, <a href="Dari">Dari</a> and <a href="Pashto">Pashto</a>.
- Fact sheet: Ensuring English Learner Students Can Participate Meaningfully and
   Equally in Educational Programs and Fact Sheet: Information for Limited English
   Proficient (LEP) Parents and Guardians and for Schools and School Districts that
   Communicate with Them: These fact sheets provide information on how states,
   districts, and schools can meet their responsibilities under Title VI and the Equal
   Educational Opportunities Act (EEOA) to ensure that English learners can participate
   meaningfully and equally in school, and that parents and guardians with limited
   English proficiency have meaningfulaccess to district and school information. This

resource is available in <u>Spanish</u>. For more detail, see OCR's and DOJ's <u>Dear Colleague</u> <u>Letter on English Learners and Limited English Proficient Parents</u> This resource is available in Spanish.

- English Learner Toolkit for State and Local Education Agencies: This toolkit from the Department of Education's Office of English Language Acquisition provides resources that schools and districts can use to meet the needs of English learners, including on these and other topics: identifying all English learner students, providing English learners with a Language Assistance Program, creating an inclusive environment and avoiding unlawful segregation, supporting English learners with disabilities, and ensuring meaningful communication with parents who have limited English proficiency.
- Questions and Answers on Civil Rights and School Reopening in the COVID-19
   Environment: Section 2 of this resource answers key questions about discrimination based on race, color, or national origin in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, including the responsibilities of schools to continue providing language services to English learners and to communicate information about the school's activities, including health and safety measures, to parents and caregivers in a language that families can understand. This Q&A also includes links to other resources regarding COVID-19 and school reopening.
- Ensuring Meaningful Participation in Advanced Coursework and Specialized Programs for Students who are English Learners: The fact sheet explains the legal requirements that schools must follow to ensure meaningful access to specialized and advanced educational programs for students who are English Learners (ELs). It also identifies practices that could, depending on facts and circumstances, raise concerns about race, color, or national origin discrimination. The fact sheet is available in Spanish.

#### **Equal Access to Schools, Facilities, and Resources**

- Confronting Discrimination Based on National Origin and Immigration Status: This
  resource from OCR and DOJ provides examples and addresses students' rights to be
  free from discrimination in school enrollment because of their immigration status or
  the immigration status of their parents or guardians. It also addresses the rights of
  students who are learning English, including the right to language assistance services.
  The resource is available in multiple languages: Spanish, Chinese (Simplified), Chinese
  (Traditional), Arabic, Vietnamese, Somali, Haitian Creole, Dari and Pashto.
- Fact Sheet: Ensuring Students Have Equal Access to Educational Resources Without Regard to Race, Color, or National Origin: This fact sheet provides information on how states, districts, and schools can ensure that all students have equitable access to educational resources—from physical facilities to academic and co-curricular programs—regardless of race, color, or national origin. This resource is available in multiple languages: Korean, Russian, Tagalog, Vietnamese, Chinese (Simplified), Chinese (Traditional). For more detail, see OCR's Dear Colleague Letter on Resource Comparability also available in Spanish.
- Fact Sheet: Ensuring Equal Access for All Children to Public Schools: This fact sheet

from OCR and DOJ provides examples of enrollment policies and describes the rights of all children in the U.S. to enroll in public elementary and secondary schools, without regard to their citizenship or immigration status, or that of their parents or guardians.

- Information on the Rights of All Children to Enroll in School: Questions and Answers for States, School Districts and Parents: This Q&A answers common questions about school enrollment policies, including those about students experiencing homelessness. This resource is available in Spanish, Chinese, Korean, Tagalog, Vietnamese, and Arabic. For more detail, see OCR's and DOJ's Dear Colleague Letter on Ensuring Equal Access for All Children to Public Schools, Regardless of Immigration Status. This is available in Arabic, Chinese, Korean, Spanish, Tagalog
- <u>Dear Colleague Letter on Title VI Access to AP Courses</u>: This letter describes the responsibility of schools that offer Advanced Placement (AP) courses to provide equal access to the courses, without discrimination based on race, color, or national origin in their admission processes or in any aspect of AP course administration.
- U.S. Department of Education and U.S. Department of Justice Fact Sheet on
   Protecting Access to Education for Migratory Children and Fact Sheet on Protecting
   Access to Education for Unaccompanied Children: The fact sheets highlight specific
   challenges some migratory children and unaccompanied children may face while
   accessing public education, explain where families can seek help, and remind public
   schools of their responsibilities to migratory and unaccompanied children under
   federal civil rights laws. Protecting Access to Education for Migratory Child is
   available in Spanish and Protecting Access to Education for Unaccompanied Children
   is available in Spanish.

### **Race Discrimination in Special Education**

<u>Fact Sheet: Preventing Racial Discrimination in Special Education</u>: This fact sheet
explains the responsibilities of states, districts, and schools not to discriminate based on
race, color, or national origin in the administration of special education or related aids
and services, including in referrals for evaluation, evaluations, and the provision of
special education services. For more detail, see OCR's <u>Dear Colleague Letter on</u>
<u>Preventing Racial Discrimination in Special Education</u>.

### **Religious and Shared Ancestry Discrimination**

- <u>Know Your Rights: Title VI and Religion</u>: This resource explains when discrimination against students who are, or are perceived to be, members of a religious group fall within Title VI's prohibition of discrimination based on race, color, or national origin.
- <u>Fact Sheet: Combating Discrimination Against Asian American, Native Hawaiian, and Pacific Islander (AANHPI) and Muslim, Arab, Sikh, and South Asian Students (MASSA):</u>
   This joint resource from OCR, DOJ, and the White House Initiative on Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders provides examples of discrimination against Asian American, Native Hawaiian, Pacific Islander, Muslim, Arab, Sikh, and South Asian students that could violate Title VI.

- <u>Fact Sheet: Combating Discrimination Against Jewish Students</u>: This resource provides examples of discrimination against Jewish students that could violate Title VI.
- Questions and Answers on Executive Order 13899 (Combating Anti-Semitism) and
   OCR's Enforcement of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964: This Q&A provides
   information about Executive Order 13899 on Combating Anti-Semitism, Title VI, and
   enforcement of Title VI by the U.S. Department of Education's Office for Civil Rights
   (OCR) in cases involving anti-Semitism.
- <u>Fact Sheet on Protecting Students from Discrimination Based on Shared Ancestry or Ethnic Characteristics:</u> This fact sheet describes how Title VI protects students from discrimination, including harassment based on shared ancestry, because they are, or are perceived to be Jewish, Christian, Muslim, Sikh, Hindu, Buddhist, or members of another religious group.
- <u>Dear Colleague Letter: Addressing Discrimination Against Jewish Students</u>: The Dear Colleague Letter reminds schools of their obligations under Title VI to provide all students, including students who are or are perceived to be Jewish, a school environment free from discrimination based on race, color, or national origin, including shared ancestry or ethnic characteristics.

#### Retaliation

• <u>Dear Colleague Letter on Retaliation</u>: This letter explains that Title VI prohibits retaliating against any person to interfere with their rights under Title VI or because they made a complaint, testified, or participated in any way in an OCR investigation or proceeding.

### GUIDANCE ON SECTION 504 OF THE REHABILITATION ACT AND TITLE II OF THE ADA: Key Guidance on Discrimination Based on Disability

OCR enforces two Federal laws that protect the rights of individuals with disabilities.

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Section 504) prohibits discrimination based on disability in any program or activity operated by recipients of Federal funds; this includes all public school districts, including all public charter schools and magnet schools. Section 504 says:

No otherwise qualified individual with a disability in the United States . . . shall, solely by reason of her or his disability, be excluded from the participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance . . .

You can find the full text of Section 504 at 29 U.S.C. § 794.

Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (Title II) prohibits discrimination based on disability by public entities, regardless of whether they receive Federal financial assistance. Title II says:

No qualified individual with a disability shall, by reason of such disability, be excluded from participation in or be denied the benefits of the services, programs, or activities of a public entity, or be subjected to discrimination by any such entity.

You can find the full text of Title II at <u>42 U.S.C. § 12132</u>. The U.S. Department of Justice enforces Title II in all contexts, while OCR administratively enforces Title II specifically in the context of public schools and libraries.

The Department of Education's Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services administers the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), a Federal law that funds special education programs. For more information about the IDEA, please visit the Department of Education's IDEA website.

The materials in this section describe Section 504 and Title II, provide a general overview of both laws, and address schools' obligations under these disability laws on the following topics: Accessibility of Programs and Facilities; Bullying and Harassment; Charter Schools; COVID-19 response; Effective Communication; Equal Access; Free Appropriate Public Education (FAPE); Race Discrimination in Special Education; Restraint and Seclusion; Retaliation; Specific Illnesses and Medical Conditions; and Transition to Postsecondary Education.

### General Overview of Section 504 and Title II Starting points for learning about Section 504 and Title II include:

- OCR's Overview, including the <u>Section 504 statute</u> and <u>implementing regulations</u> and the <u>Title II statute</u> and <u>implementing regulations</u>
- Frequently Asked Questions on Disability Discrimination
- Frequently Asked Questions About Section 504 and the Education of Children with

<u>Disabilities</u>: This resource answers common questions about the interrelationship between Section 504 and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), who is protected under Section 504, evaluations, placement, procedural safeguards, and terminology.

Parent and Educator Resource Guide to Section 504 in Public Elementary and Secondary Schools: This resource provides information on the definition of disability under Section 504, among other topics, including: athletics and extracurricular activities; bullying and harassment; free appropriate public education; physical accessibility; procedural safeguards; retaliation; and the interrelationship between Section 504, Title II, and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA). This resource is available in Spanish.

### **Accessibility of Programs and Facilities**

- Electronic Book Readers: <u>Questions and Answers about the Law, the Technology, and the Population Affected</u>: This Q&A provides schools with information about their responsibilities to make any electronic book readers accessible to students with disabilities, including students who are blind or have low vision. For more information, see the <u>Dear Colleague Letter on Electric Book Readers</u> issued by OCR and the Department of Justice's Civil Rights Division (DOJ) and OCR's <u>Frequently Asked Questions about the Dear Colleague Letter on Electronic Book Readers</u>.
- Accessibility and usability of physical facilities: OCR's <u>Notice of Interpretation of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973</u> explains OCR's interpretation of Section 504 and its implementing regulations concerning the standards OCR allows recipients to use to ensure the accessibility and usability of physical facilities by people with disabilities. DOJ also provides information about the Americans with Disabilities Act and accessibility, including on the 2010 <u>ADA Standards for Accessible Design</u>.
- Web Accessibility: OCR released a <u>video series</u> covering various aspects of digital access including how people with disabilities use technology, applicable Federal regulations, and identifying and remediating barriers to access. For assistance or questions about web accessibility, you can reach OCR's Web Accessibility Team at <u>ocr@ed.gov</u>.

#### **Bullying and Harassment**

- <u>Fact Sheet on Harassment and Bullying</u>: This fact sheet explains schools' responsibilities under Section 504 and Title II to respond to student-on-student harassment and bullying. This resource is available in <u>Arabic</u>, <u>Chinese</u>, <u>Korean</u>, <u>Punjabi</u>, <u>Spanish</u>, and <u>Vietnamese</u>. For more detail, see OCR's <u>Dear Colleague Letter on Bullying and Discriminatory Harassment</u>.
- Fact Sheet: What Are Public Schools Required to Do When Students with Disabilities Are Bullied?: This fact sheet explains schools' responsibilities to address bullying of students with disabilities and provides additional resources. For more detail, see OCR's Dear Colleague Letter on Bullying of Students with Disabilities, which provides examples and explains: (1) that bullying of a student with a disability, on any basis, may result in a denial of free appropriate public education (FAPE) under Section 504, in addition to incidents OCR investigates. For more detail, see OCR's Dear Colleague Letter on

Students at Risk for Self-Harm or Suicide.

#### **Charter Schools**

• Frequently Asked Questions about the Rights of Students with Disabilities in Public Charter Schools under Section 504: This FAQ explains the rights of students with disabilities who attend or seek to attend public charter schools under Section 504 and answers common questions, including questions about admissions and enrollment, free appropriate public education (FAPE), and nonacademic and extracurricular services and activities. For more detail, see the <a href="Dear Colleague Letter on the Rights of Children with Disabilities in Public Charter Schools">Dear Colleague Letter on the Rights of Children with Disabilities in Public Charter Schools</a> issued by OCR and the Department of Education's Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services.

#### COVID-19

- Questions and Answers on Civil Rights and School Reopening in the COVID-19 Environment: Section 1 of this resource answers key questions about the rights of students with disabilities in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, including: remote learning and Federal civil rights laws; free appropriate public education (FAPE); mask exemptions; physical distancing; accessibility/placement; and the unlawfulness of requiring students to waive their rights under Section 504 before the school will provide services remotely. This resource also includes links to other resources regarding COVID-19 and school reopening.
- <u>Letter to Educators and Parents, March 24, 2022</u>: This letter from Secretary of Education Cardona includes information on schools' responsibility under Section 504 and IDEA to ensure that students with disabilities receive education and services in the least restrictive environment.
- Long COVID under Section 504 and IDEA: A Resource to Support Children, Students,
   Educators, Schools, Service Providers, and Families: This resource from OCR and the
   Department of Education's Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services
   explains the rights of young children and students who are experiencing long-term
   adverse health effects of COVID-19, commonly referred to as long COVID. The resource
   provides information about long COVID as a disability and about schools and public
   agencies' responsibilities to address long COVID under Section 504 and Parts B and C of
   the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA).
- Supporting and Protecting the Rights of Students at Risk of Self-Harm in the Era of
   <u>COVID-19</u>: This resource, which explains the Federal civil rights laws that protect
   students with mental health disabilities, helps schools meet students' mental health
   needs and respond to pandemic-related traumas, with examples of incidents OCR
   investigates. For more detail, see OCR's <u>Dear Colleague Letter on Students at Risk for Self-Harm or Suicide</u>.

#### **Effective Communication**

<u>Frequently Asked Questions on Effective Communication for Students with Hearing,</u>
 Vision, or <u>Speech Disabilities in Public Elementary and Secondary Schools</u>: This FAQ from
 OCR, the Department of Education's Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative

Services (OSERS), and DOJ explains schools' responsibilities to meet the needs of students who have hearing, vision, or speech disabilities, including the duty to provide a free appropriate public education (FAPE) under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) and the duty to provide effective communication under Title II and Section 504. OCR, OSERS, and DOJ have also issued an additional <a href="Q&A">Q&A</a> on Meeting the Communication Needs of Students with Hearing, Vision, or Speech Disabilities summarizing students' rights under these laws and provided more detail in a <a href="Dear">Dear</a> Colleague Letter on Effective Communication.

 To learn more about using electronic book readers to ensure effective communication, see OCR's and DOJ's <u>Dear Colleague Letter on Electric Book Readers</u>, OCR's <u>Frequently</u> <u>Asked Questions about the Dear Colleague Letter on Electronic Book Readers</u>, and OCR's Questions and Answers about the Law, the Technology, and the Population Affected.

### **Equal Access**

- <u>Background and Fast Facts on Schools' Obligation to Provide Equal Opportunity to Students with Disabilities to Participate in Extracurricular Athletics</u>: This resource explains schools' responsibilities under Section 504 to enable students with disabilities to participate in extracurricular athletics. For more detail, including examples of how OCR analyzes whether a student has received an equal opportunity to participate, see OCR's Dear Colleague Letter on Students with Disabilities in Extracurricular Athletics.
- Dear Colleague Letter on Access by Students with Disabilities to Accelerated Programs:
   This letter explains that disability-based discrimination is prohibited in access to accelerated programs, such as Advanced Placement and International Baccalaureate programs, and addresses when any denial of access results in a denial of free appropriate public education (FAPE) under Section 504.

### Free Appropriate Public Education (FAPE)

- Parent and Educator Resource Guide to Section 504 in Public Elementary and Secondary Schools: This resource provides an overview of FAPE under Section 504. Please visit the Department of Education's <u>IDEA website</u> for more information about FAPE under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA).
- Questions and Answers on Civil Rights and School Reopening in the COVID-19
   Environment: Section 1 of this resource answers key questions about the provision of FAPE to students with disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic, including the impact of school closures or remote learning on FAPE.
- <u>Dear Colleague Letter on Bullying of Students with Disabilities</u>: This letter explains that bullying of a student with a disability, on any basis, may result in a denial of FAPE.
- <u>Fact Sheet: Providing Students with Disabilities Free Appropriate Public Education</u>
   <u>During the COVID-19 Pandemic and Addressing the Need for Compensatory Services</u>
   <u>Under Section 504:</u> This resource reviews the obligation of elementary and secondary schools under Section 504 to provide appropriate evaluations and services to students with disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic, including schools' responsibilities to provide compensatory services.

- Supporting Students with Disabilities and Avoiding the Discriminatory Use of Student
   <u>Discipline under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973</u> and an
   accompanying <u>Fact Sheet</u>: These resources describe schools' responsibilities under
   Section 504 to ensure nondiscrimination against students based on disability when
   imposing student discipline.
- Questions and Answers: Addressing the Needs of Children with Disabilities and IDEA's
   <u>Discipline Provisions</u>: This resource addresses schools' responsibility to implement the
   IDEA's discipline provisions in a way that upholds the law's promise of equality of
   opportunity. Please note that the Department of Education's Office of Special Education
   and Rehabilitative Services (OSERS) administers the IDEA.

### **Race Discrimination in Special Education**

<u>Fact Sheet: Preventing Racial Discrimination in Special Education</u>: This fact sheet
explains the responsibilities of states, districts, and schools not to discriminate based on
race, color, or national origin in the administration of special education or related aids
and services, including in referrals for evaluation, evaluations, and the provision of
special education services. For more detail, see OCR's <u>Dear Colleague Letter on</u>
<u>Preventing Racial Discrimination in Special Education</u>

#### **Restraint and Seclusion**

• <u>Fact Sheet: Restraint and Seclusion of Students with Disabilities</u>: This fact sheet explains how the practice of using restraint and seclusion may result in discrimination against students with disabilities under Section 504 and Title II. For more detail, see OCR's <u>Dear Colleague Letter on Restraint and Seclusion of Students with Disabilities</u>.

#### Retaliation

- <u>Dear Colleague Letter on Retaliation</u>: This letter explains that Title II and Section 504
  prohibit retaliating against any person to interfere with their rights under these laws
  or because they made a complaint, testified, or participated in any way in an OCR
  investigation or proceeding.
- <u>Parent and Educator Resource Guide to Section 504 in Public Elementary and Secondary Schools</u>: This resource provides information on prohibited retaliation under Section 504, including an example with analysis.

### **Specific Illnesses and Medical Conditions**

- Long COVID under Section 504 and IDEA: A Resource to Support Children, Students, Educators, Schools, Service Providers, and Families: This resource from OCR and the Department of Education's Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services explains the rights of young children and students who are experiencing long-term adverse health effects of COVID-19, commonly referred to as long COVID. The resource provides information about long COVID as a disability and about schools and public agencies' responsibilities to address long COVID under Section 504 and Parts B and C of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA).
- Know Your Rights: Students with ADHD: This resource provides information on how

school districts can protect the rights of students with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) under Section 504, including with respect to identification, evaluations, placement determinations, and due process protections for students and parents. For more detail and resources, including for students with attention deficit disorder (ADD), see OCR's Dear Colleague Letter and Resource Guide on Students with ADHD.

- <u>Fact Sheet on Addressing the Risk of Measles in Schools while Protecting the Civil Rightsof Students with Disabilities</u>: This fact sheet provides information about the rights of students with disabilities with respect to measles, especially those who are medically unable to receive vaccines due to a disability or who may be unable to attend school forextended periods.
- Dear Colleague Letter on the Participation of Students with Hepatitis in Health-Related Programs: This joint letter from the Department of Justice, the Department of Health and Human Services, and the Department of Education to update the latest recommendations from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) regarding the participation of students with hepatitis B in medical, dental, nursing, and other health-related programs. Although this letter focuses on students in graduate health-related programs, it also discusses schools' obligations under Section 504, Title II, and other Federal civil rights laws.
- Fact Sheet: Implementing CDC's Ebola Guidance for Schools while Protecting the Civil Rights of Students and Others: The fact sheet addresses how school officials can implement Ebola guidance from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) without discriminating on the basis of race, color, national origin, or disability; explains what school officials must do to ensure a continuity of learning if a student is legitimately excluded from school; and reminds school officials of their responsibility to respond to bullying and harassment.

### **Transition to Postsecondary Education**

- <u>Transition of Students with Disabilities to Postsecondary Education: A Guide for High School Educators</u>: This guide answers frequently asked questions about requirements for postsecondary institutions under Title II and Section 504 concerning the transition of students with disabilities to postsecondary education, including the admissions process and the provision of academic adjustments and auxiliary aids and services to students.
- Students with Disabilities Preparing for Postsecondary Education: Know Your Rights and
  Responsibilities: This resource explains the rights of students with disabilities who are
  preparing to attend postsecondary institutions, as well as the responsibilities of
  postsecondary institutions to provide academic adjustments for students with
  disabilities, including auxiliary aids and services. This resource is available in Spanish.

### **Key Guidance on Discrimination Based on Sex**

Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 prohibits discrimination on the basis of sex in all education programs and activities operated by recipients of Federal funds, including public school districts. Title IX says, subject to certain exceptions:

No person in the United States shall, on the basis of sex, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any education program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance...

You can find the full text of Title IX at 20 U.S.C. § 1681.

OCR enforces Title IX to ensure that students have equal access to educational opportunity and can go to school free from sex discrimination. Title IX includes protection against discrimination based on sexual orientation or gender identity, which the Department of Education recently explained in a <u>public notice</u>. For more explanation, see the resources below.

The materials here provide a general overview of Title IX and address schools' obligations under Title IX on the following topics: Athletics; COVID-19 response; Pregnant or Parenting Students; Retaliation; Sexual Harassment, including Sexual Violence; Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity; and Single-Sex Education Services, Programs, and Activities.

### General Overview of Title IX Starting points for learning about Title IX include:

- OCR's Overview, including the <u>Title IX statute</u> and the <u>2020 amendments</u> to its implementing regulations and OCR's <u>Notice of Interpretation of Enforcement of Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 With Respect to Discrimination Based on Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity in Light of <u>Bostock v. Clayton County</u>, which clarifies Title IX's coverage of discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity.<sup>2</sup>
  </u>
- <u>Sex Discrimination Frequently Asked Questions Exemptions from Title IX</u>: This resource
  explains how, when, and why a school may be exempt from one or more of Title IX's
  requirement

#### **Athletics**

- <u>Supporting Equal Opportunity in School Athletic Programs: A Resource for Students and Families</u> This resource provides information about schools' responsibility under Title IX to provide equal athletic opportunities to all students, regardless of sex. It also includes examples of the kinds of situations that could, depending upon the facts and circumstances, raise Title IX concerns in school athletic programs at all education levels.
- <u>Title IX and Athletic Opportunities in K-12 Schools: A Resource for Students, Parents, Coaches, Athletic Directors and School Communities:</u> This resource explains the rights

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Please note that pursuant to a Federal court order, the Department has been preliminarily "enjoined and restrained from implementing" this document against Alabama, Alaska, Arizona, Arkansas, Georgia, Idaho, Indiana, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Mississippi, Missouri, Montana, Nebraska, Ohio, Oklahoma, Tennessee, South Carolina, South Dakota, and West Virginia. See State of Tenn., et al. v. U.S. Dep't of Educ., No. 3:21-cv-308 (E.D. Tenn.) (July 15, 2022).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Federal court order discussed in note 1 above applies to this Notice of Interpretation.

that students have under Title IX to participate in interscholastic, intramural, or club athletic programs free from sex discrimination. This resource can help students, parents, coaches, athletic directors, and others evaluate whether a school is meeting its legal duty to provide equal athletic opportunities consistent with Title IX.

- Policy Interpretation on Title IX and Intercollegiate Athletics: This policy interpretation provides comprehensive guidance on Title IX and intercollegiate athletics but is also useful for elementary and secondary schools because the interpretation applies as well to interscholastic, club, and intramural athletic programs. OCR has additional guidance resources on Title IX and athletics, including: (1) a Clarification of Intercollegiate Athletics Policy Guidance: The Three-Part Test; (2) a Dear Colleague Letter on Intercollegiate Athletics Policy: Three-Part Test—Part Three; and (3) Questions and Answers on Accommodating Students' Athletic Interests and Abilities: Standards for Part Three of the "Three-Part Test."
- <u>Dear Colleague Letter on Athletic Activities Counted for Title IX Compliance:</u> This letter
  explains how OCR determines whether an athletic activity is a sport that can be
  counted as part of the institution's athletics program for the purpose of determining
  compliance with Title IX, including whether the institution provides equal opportunity
  in its athletics programs.

#### COVID-19

Questions and Answers on Civil Rights and School Reopening in the COVID-19
 Environment: Section 3 of this resource answers key questions about investigating and resolving complaints about discrimination based on sex, including sexual and gender-based harassment, in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. This resource also includes links to other resources regarding COVID-19 and school reopening.

### **Pregnant or Parenting Students**

- Know Your Rights: Pregnant or Parenting? Title IX Protects You From Discrimination At School: This resource provides information about the Title IX rights of students who are pregnant or parenting, including the right to continue participating in academic and extracurricular programs and students' rights concerning excused absences and medical leave, harassment, and school policies and procedures. This is available in Spanish. Please note that the 2020 amendments to the Title IX regulations and OCR's Questions and Answers on the Title IX Regulations on Sexual Harassment (July 2021, updated June 28, 2022) provide more recent information about a school's obligation to respond to discrimination and harassment under Title IX.
- <u>Discrimination Based on Pregnancy and Related Conditions:</u> This resource assists school communities in understanding Title IX's protections of students and employees from discrimination based on pregnancy, childbirth, false pregnancy, termination of pregnancy, or recovery therefrom.

#### Retaliation

 <u>Dear Colleague Letter on Retaliation:</u> This letter explains that Title IX prohibits retaliating against any person to interfere with their rights under Title IX or because they

made a complaint, testified, or participated in any way in an OCR investigation or proceeding. Please note that the 2020 amendments to the Title IX regulations include additional details on the types of retaliation prohibited by Title IX—such as charging a person with a code of conduct violation that does not involve sex discrimination or sexual harassment in order to interfere with their rights under Title IX—and the responsibilities of schools regarding confidentiality and complaints alleging retaliation.

### Sexual Harassment, including Sexual Violence

- 2020 Amendments to the Title IX regulations: These regulations specify how schools
  must respond to allegations of sexual harassment. The complete set of amendments is
  available here: Final Rule on Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex in Education
  Programs or Activities Receiving Federal Financial Assistance. The Department is
  currently reviewing these regulations, as described in a Letter to Students, Educators,
  and other Stakeholders regarding President Biden's Executive Order on Guaranteeing
  an Educational Environment Free from Discrimination on the Basis of Sex, Including
  Sexual Orientation or Gender Identity. The regulations remain in effect and apply to all
  alleged sexual harassment occurring on or after August 14, 2020, the date the existing
  regulations took effect.
- Questions and Answers on the Title IX Regulations on Sexual Harassment (July 2021):
   This Q&A answers common questions about how schools must respond to allegations of sexual harassment under the 2020 Amendments to the Title IX regulations and includes an appendix with examples of policy provisions from various schools.

### **Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity**

- Resources for LGBTQI+ Students: OCR's website provides useful resources for LGBTQI+ students that schools may also find helpful, including resources from OCR, the White House, other Federal agencies, and recent Federal court decisions on LGBTQI+ rights.
- <u>Supporting Transgender Youth in School</u>: This fact sheet from the Department of Education highlights examples of how schools can support transgender students and includes information on how the Department supports transgender students who experience discrimination at school.
- Confronting Anti-LGBTQI+ Harassment in Schools: A resource from OCR and the Department of Justice's Civil Rights Division concerning harassment against students who are lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, intersex, nonbinary, or otherwise gender non-conforming, including the responsibilities of schools to investigate and address discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation and gender identity, which is a form of sex discrimination.
  - Please note that pursuant to a Federal court order, the Department has been preliminarily "enjoined and restrained from implementing" this document against Alabama, Alaska, Arizona, Arkansas, Georgia, Idaho, Indiana, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Mississippi, Missouri, Montana, Nebraska, Ohio, Oklahoma, Tennessee, South Carolina, South Dakota, and West Virginia. See State of Tenn., et al. v. U.S. Dep't of Educ., No. 3:21-cv-308 (E.D. Tenn.) (July 15, 2022).
- Title IX's protection against discrimination based on sexual orientation or gender identity: OCR explains that the Department of Education interprets Title IX's prohibition

on of sex discrimination to include discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity in this <u>Notice of Interpretation of Enforcement of Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 With Respect to Discrimination Based on Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity in Light of *Bostock v. Clayton County*.</u>

- Please note that pursuant to a Federal court order, the Department has been preliminarily "enjoined and restrained from implementing" this document against Alabama, Alaska, Arizona, Arkansas, Georgia, Idaho, Indiana, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Mississippi, Missouri, Montana, Nebraska, Ohio, Oklahoma, Tennessee, South Carolina, South Dakota, and West Virginia. See State of Tenn., et al. v. U.S. Dep't of Educ., No. 3:21-cv-308 (E.D. Tenn.) (July 15, 2022).
- <u>Fact Sheet on Supporting Intersex Students</u>: This fact sheet provides information about how students, families, and educators can support intersex students in key issues intersex students face. This resource also includes information on what students can do if they experience discrimination at school.

### Single-Sex Education Services, Programs, and Activities

- Questions and Answers on Title IX and Single-Sex Elementary and Secondary Classes and <u>Extracurricular Activities</u>: This resource answers common questions on how single-sex classes or extracurricular activities may comply with Title IX in certain circumstances.
- <u>Dear Colleague Letter on Voluntary Youth Service Organizations:</u> This letter provides information on when Title IX allows a school district to work with outside organizations that provide single-sex programming to the district's students.

# Supporting Educational Environments Free from Discrimination A Resource Collection for Elementary and Secondary Schools GUIDANCE ON CRDC DATA: Key Guidance on OCR's Civil Rights Data Collection

The Civil Rights Data Collection (CRDC) is a survey of nearly all public schools and school districts—including juvenile justice facilities, charter schools, alternative schools, and schools that serve only students with disabilities. OCR works closely with schools, local educational agencies, and state educational institutions in the United States on this important data collection, which has taken place since 1968.

Through the CRDC, OCR collects data necessary to ensure compliance with the civil rights laws that OCR enforces. Data collected for the survey includes information on student enrollment, educational programs and services, bullying and harassment, administration of school discipline, and numerous other factors that are disaggregated by race/ethnicity, sex, English learner status, and disability. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the CRDC for the 2019–2020 school year was shifted to the 2020–2021 school year. In August 2021, OCR announced the administration of a 2021-22 CRDC, marking the first time that OCR has conducted a universal civil rights data collection two years in a row.

#### **General Overview of the CRDC**

- CRDC Frequently Asked Questions
- About the Civil Rights Data Collection
- 2020-21 CRDC Questions and Answers

### **How to Access and Navigate the Database**

- Take Me to CRDC
  - o School Search
  - o District Search
  - Detailed Data Tables
  - Data Analysis Tools
  - Special Reports for Schools and Districts on English Learners, discipline, and educational equity

#### **Prior CRDC Reports**

- State and National Estimations for 2017-2018
- Civil Rights Data Collection page (for 2017-2018)
- Civil Rights Data Collection page (for 2015-2016)
- Civil Rights Data Collection page (for 2013-2014)

If you have any comments or questions concerning the use of CRDC data or suggestions to improve the user-friendliness of this site, please email OCR at <a href="mailto:ocrdata@ed.gov">ocrdata@ed.gov</a> or write to:

CRDC Survey Coordinator
Office for Civil Rights
U.S. Department of Education
400 Maryland Avenue, S.W.
Room 4E109
Washington, D.C. 20202-1172